A Reporting Servzce for

Earth Negotiations Bulletin

Envzronment and Development Negotzatzons

Vol. 12 No. 86

Published by the International Institute for Sustainable Development

Monday, 15 June 1998

REPORT OF THE MEETINGSOF THE FCCC
SUBSIDIARY BODIES: 2 — 12 JUNE 1998

The subsidiary bodies of the UN Framework Convention on
Climate Change (FCCC) met from 2-12 June 1998 in Bonn, Germany.
Thesewerethefirst formal FCCC meetings since the adoption of the
Kyoto Protocol at the Third Conference of the Parties (COP-3) in
December 1997. The eighth session of the Subsidiary Body for Scien-
tific and Technological Advice (SBSTA-8) agreed to draft conclusions
on, inter alia, cooperation with relevant international organizations,
methodological issues, and education and training. The eighth session
of the Subsidiary Body for Implementation (SBI) reached conclusions
on, inter alia, national communications, the financial mechanism and
the second review of adequacy of Annex | Party commitments. Inits
sixth session, the Ad Hoc Group on Article 13 (AG13) concluded its
work on thefunctions of the Multilateral Consultative Process (MCP).

After joint SBI/SBSTA consideration and extensive contact group
debates on the flexibility mechanisms, delegates could only agreeto a
compilation document containing proposals from the G-77/China, the
EU and the US.

ABRIEFHISTORY OF THEFCCCAND THEKYOTO
PROTOCOL

Thefirst meeting of the Conference of the Partiesto the FCCC
(COP-1) took placein Berlin from 28 March - 7 April 1995. In addi-
tion to addressing anumber of important issuesrelated to the future of
the Convention, del egates reached agreement on what many believed
to be the central issue before COP-1 — adequacy of commitment
“Berlin Mandate.” The result was to establish an open-eAdétbc
Group on the Berlin Mandate (AGBM) to begin a process toward
appropriate action for the period beyond 2000, including the stren
ening of the commitments of Annex | Parties through the adoption
protocol or another legal instrument.

Parties, and intergovernmental and non-governmental organizations
make written submissions in response to a questionnaire on a multil:
eral consultative process (MCP). Delegates continued their discussi
over the course of three meetings. At their fifth session, they agreed
that the MCP should be advisory rather than supervisory in nature ar
AG13 should complete its work by COP-4.

ADHOC GROUPON THE BERLIN MANDATE: The AGBM
met eight times between August 1995 and COP-3 in December 199’
During the first three sessions, delegates focused on analyzing and
assessing possible policies and measures for the strengthening of tt
commitments of Annex | Parties, how Annex | countries might
distribute or share new commitments, and whether commitments
should take the form of an amendment or protocol. AGBM-4, which
coincided with COP-2 in Geneva in July 1996, completed its in-deptt
analysis of the likely elements of a protocol and States appeared rea
to prepare a negotiating text. At AGBM-5, which met in December
1996, delegates recognized the need to decide whether or not to allc
mechanisms that would provide Annex | Parties with flexibility in
meeting quantified emission limitation and reduction objectives
(QELROs).

As the Protocol was drafted during the sixth and seventh session
of the AGBM, in March and August 1997, respectively, delegates
"streamlined" a framework compilation text by merging or eliminating
some overlapping provisions within the myriad of proposals. Much o
the discussion centered on a proposal from the EU for a 15% cutin &
"basket" of three greenhouse gases by the year 2010 compared to 1
levels. In October 1997, as AGBM-8 began, US President Bill Clintor

s'ﬂ%#ded a call for "meaningful participation" by developing countries
e negotiating position he announced in Washington. With those
Words, the debates that shaped agreement back in 1995 resurfaced,
an insistence on G-77/China involvement once again linked to tt
%ggel of ambition acceptable by the US. In response, the G-77/China

COP-1 also requested the Secretariat to make arrangements for
sessions of SBSTA and SBIl. SBSTA would serve as the link between IN THISISSUE
scientific, technical and technological assessments, the informatign
provided by competent international bodies, and the policy-orientgd A Brief History of the FCCC and the Kyoto Protocal. . . . . . 1
needs of the COP. During the AGBM process, SBSTA addressed
several issues, including the treatment of the IPCC’s Second Assesgxd Hoc Groupon Article13. . .........o.oveeen... 2
ment Report (SAR). SBI was created to develop recommendations tgl#bgd,ary Body for Scientific and Technological Advice. . 3
assist the COP in the review and assessment of the implementatign

. - > . 4 ; 8lipsi diary Body for Implementation. . ................ 5

the Convention and in the preparation and implementation of its dec CERSTA/SBI Joint Session 9
sions. SBI also addressed several key issues during the AGBM ONS. v
process, such as national communications and activities implemented _ . . i
jointly. A Brief Analysisof theMestings. . .................. 1

The Ad Hoc Group on Article 13 (AG13) was set up to consider i
the establishment of a multilateral consultative process available tp ThingstoLook For ...................... .. ... .. 13
Parties to resolve questions on implementation. AG13-1, held from

30-31 October 1995 in Geneva, decided to request Parties, non-

Thisissue of the Earth Negotiations Bulletin© <enb@iisd.org> is written and edited by Chad Carpenter <chadc@iisd.org>, Deborah Davenport <ddavenp@emory.ed
Churie Kallhauge <churie@I.kth.se>, and Peter Doran <pfdoran@ecology.u-net.com>. Digital Content by Jeffrey Anderson <@imstecsonand Andrei Henr

<andrei.henry@utoronto.ca>. The Editor is Pamela Chasek, Ph.D. <pam@iisd.org> and the Managing Editor is Langston Jar@eségixiotkimo@iisd.org>. The

Sustaining Donors of tHaulletin are the Netherlands Ministry for Development Cooperation, the Government of Canada (through CIDA) and the United StrtésS#iid)
General Support for tHulletin during 1998 is provided by the United Kingdom Department for International Development (DFID), the German Federal Mimgiryrohent
(BMU), the Swiss Office for Environment, Forests and Landscape, the European Community (DG-XI), the Government of Nonivagtrthe M Environment and Foreig
Affairs of Austria, UNDP, the Global Environment Facility and the Ministry for the Environment in Iceland. Funding for gtewemrsion has been provided by ACCT/IEPF, w

> Al

n
ith

support from the French Ministry of Cooperation. Buéletin can be contacted at tel: +1-212-644-0204; fax: +1-212-644-0206. 1ISD can be contacted by e-mail at <info@iisd.

and at 161 Portage Avenue East, Winnipeg, Manitoba R3B 0Y4, Canada. The opinions expresEadtimNbgotiations Bulletin are those of the authors and do not necess

arily

reflect the views of 1ISD and its funders. Excerpts fromEaeh Negotiations Bulletin may be used in non-commercial publications only and only with appropriate academi

citation. For permission to use this material in commercial publications, contact the Managing Editor. Electronic velnsiBoi$etirt are sent to e-mail distribution lists and ¢
be found on the Linkages WWW server at http://www.iisd.ca/linkages/. The satellite image was taken above Geneva (c)1988 Ehgh,iinc. http://livingearth.com. F¢
information on thé=arth Negotiations Bulletin, send e-mail to <enb@iisd.org>.

an
r




Monday, 15 June 1998 @E‘.’f th Negotiations Bulletin Vol. 12 No. 86 Page 2

used every opportunity to distanceitself from any attemptsto draw On paragraph 8 (expertise), delegates agreed, based on proposc
developing countriesinto agreeing to anything that could be inter- from GHANA and the EU, that the Multilateral Consultative
preted as new commitments. Committee should comprise persons nominated by governments wh

COP-3: The Third Conference of the Parties (COP-3) tothe FCCC ~ are experts in relevant fields, such as science, socioeconomics and
was held from 1 - 11 December 1997 in Kyoto, Japan. Over 10,000 environment.
participants, including representatives from governments, intergov- In paragraph 10 (deliberations), the EU, supported by SLOVENI/
ernmental organizations, NGOs and the press, attended the Confer- and GHANA, proposed that the Committee meet “at least once a yea
ence, whichincluded ahigh-level segment featuring statementsfrom  The delegates also accepted an EU proposal to merge paragraphs 1
over 125 ministers. Following aweek and ahalf of intenseformal and  (deliberations) and 11 (governance).

informal negotiations, including asession that began on the final On paragraph 12, delegates debated who could trigger the MCP.
evening and | asted into thefollowing day, Partiestothe FCCC adopted  CANADA, Chair of the drafting group, reported that Parties agreed th
the Kyoto Protocol on 11 December. MCP can be triggered by: a Party with respect to its own implementa
Inthe Kyoto Protocol, Annex | Partiesto the FCCC agreed to tion; a group of Parties with respect to their own implementation; a
commitmentswith aview to reducing their overall emissions of six Party or group of Parties with respect to implementation by another

greenhouse gases (GHGS) by at |east 5% below 1990 level s between Party or group of Parties; and/or the Conference of the Parties.
2008 and 2012. The Protocol also establishes emissions trading, “joinOn paragraph 13 (outcome) the delegates deliberated on the
implementation” between developed countries, and a “clean develegporting of the Committee, access to the reports of the work of the
ment mechanism” (CDM) to encourage joint emissions reduction Committee, frequency and form of the reports and whether reports
projects between developed and developing countries. should be subject to consent of Parties concerned. Consensus was
As of 9 May 1998, the following 39 Parties had signed the Kyotaeached in the drafting group to forward concerned Parties' commen
Protocol (in order of signature): Maldives, Samoa, Antigua and  on the conclusions and recommendations together with the
Barbuda, Switzerland, Saint Lucia, Argentina, Marshall Islands, Committee's report to the COP.
|V_|ICYOI’leSIa, St. VII’ICEI’]'[ and the Grenacjmes, Seychelles, the Philip- On paragraph 14 (evolution), delegates accepted text noting that
pines, Malta, Costa Rica, Japan, Austria, Germany, Finland, Portugi@dse terms of reference may be amended by the COP.
France, Sweden, Belgium, Spain, Denmark, Greece, Italy, the Nether sypstantial part of the AG13 deliberations dealt with paragraph
lands, Luxembourg, the UK, Brazil, Norway, Monaco, Australia, 7 (size of the committee) and 9 (Constitution), which were considere
Canada, Ireland, New Zealand, China, Panama, El Salvador and jointly. Delegates generally agreed to: limit the number of participant
Mexico. These Parties represent 39% of Annex 3 €@issions. in the Multilateral Consultative Committee, rotate terms of two or
Under Protocol Article 25, the Protocol will enter into force after it hésree years; and permit the other subsidiary bodies' Chairs to partici-
been ratified by 55 Parties to the FCCC, incorporating Parties inclugatk as observers. They were divided over exact membership numbe
in Annex | that account for at least 55% of the total carbon dioxide with the EU, SLOVENIA, the US and others favoring 15 or fewer

emissions for 1990. members for administrative efficiency while the G-77/CHINA called
for 25 members to allow the inclusion of a broader competence base
ADHOC GROUPONARTICLE 13 and avoid difficulties with constituting a separate roster of experts.

In his opening remarks on Friday, 5 June, AG13 Chair Patrick Sk&nguage allowing for a roster of experts in paragraph 9 was not
(UK) recalled that during AG13-5, delegates agreed that the Multilsupported. This issue was not resolved and will be discussed at_COF
eral Consultative Process (MCP) should be advisory rather than superthe EU and G-77/CHINA accepted unbracketed text on equitable
visory in nature. They also agreed that AG13 should complete its w@@Rgraphical distribution among regions, but the US proposed
by COP-4. He stressed that the meeting would discuss only the M@fviding membership equally between Annex | and non-Annex |
under the Convention and not the Protocol. From 5-11 June, delegR&éies and suggested that “equitable geographical distribution” be
deliberated on the heavily bracketed draft text (FCCC/AG13/1997/egplaced with “with one half to be designated by Annex I-Parties and
from AG13-5. A drafting group, chaired by Clara Musendo one half to be designated by non-Annex | Parties.” He argued that th
(Zimbabwe), was convened to incorporate new proposals. Committee was the first under the Conventhn and thus was not

On paragraph 1, (establishment of the MCP), delegates agreed elled to apply the UN system of apportionment. The G-77/
“standing” Multilateral Consultative Committee reporting to the COP! ébﬁsﬂggﬂﬁe&é Sé?%'gg é?]aééﬁietgt\;\llgrge%%?g:)ehtig;frtlj(ijs.etrr?lgll?tieo\;\vgrl]_ |
rem%Cep g;gglr(ﬁshf?o(r%btfgtggergrtggh'\i%?ﬁ;tﬂﬁ%{ﬂg grbcj)ggt%%rg?t ation principles. The US further objected to the language used in tl

X . e . ir’ t on the work of AG13. He noted that even though the U
MCP is to resolve questions regarding implementation of the FCC Ir's report on the Y
providing advice on assistance to Parties to overcome difficulties ifi-cd the objection in Plenary, several other countries had expresse

P, : : heir support for the US position during the contact group. The G-77/
Lﬁggéwtpéiesnsgggtf,on' promote understanding of the FCCC, and CHINA objected to stating that the report only covered the formal

On paragraph 3 (nature of the MCP), delegates debated the degroceedmgs,

Crips
tion of the MCP as “transparent.” Following the discussion, the Chaj eBn Tuesday, 9 June, a small group was convened to try o resolv
invited a small group to draft an interpretative statement for inclusi %

two outstanding issues. On 11 June, AG13 Chair Széll reported «
in the AG13 report, indicating that transparency should be understggg"€Sults from the contact group. The group agreed that in paragra
as areference to the overall process and outcome and not to the q

the terms of reference for the MCP, “geographical distribution”
tion of access to meetings. The delegates agreed to thege conclus Ldsgg:sbtehgl\a/lifaevs cl)? grg%gﬁi’nvglg]nz footﬁg‘rgt_e#]een;rté%%ggﬁmﬁ el
On paragraph 4 (nature of the MCP), AUSTRALIA raised the 5 qesignate half the members for Annex | Parties and half for non-
possibility of duplication by the MCP of other FCCC dispute settle- Apnex | Parties would be placed in brackets with a similar footnote
ment work. The EU, UNITED ARAB EMIRATES and IRAN noted genoting that it represents the view expressed by some Parties. Par:
the MCP's phurpose is advisory only and that duplication was dealt "@’;@ph 11 of the report of AG13-6 was modified accordingly.
In paragraph 6. h d ies debated the implicati f In the new draft, a paragraph on the budgetary provisions for 199
On paragraph 5 (mandate), Parties debated the implications of g5 included. With no objections raised by the Parties, the report of t
reference to provision of “the” appropriate assistance. Delegates meeting and annexes, including a draft terms of reference of the MC

agreed to language indicating that assistance would be purely adV'%P@'CC/AG13/1998/L.1), were adopted and will be presented at COF
Paragraph 6, on avoiding duplication with other FCCC bodies, was

accepted without debate.



Vol. 12 No. 86 Page 3 @E‘.”.’ th Negotiations Bulletin Monday, 15 June 1998

SUBSIDIARY BODY FOR SCIENTIFIC AND On Friday, 12 June, delegates considered draft conclusions (FCC
SBSTA/1998/CRP.4) on this agenda item. The draft conclusions
) ) TECHNOLOGICAL ADVICE . noted: that other international organizations such as ICAO and IMO
In his opening statement on Tuesday, 2 June, SBSTA Chair Kok will be invited to make progress on their work of relevance to the
Kee Chow (Malaysia) urged delegatesto prepare recommendationsfor - Convention and provide reports to SBSTA,; the statement by UNEP's
decisionsto be adopted at COP-4, which will takeplaceinNovember  Executive Director on the role of UNEP, as set out in the UN Generall
1998 in BuenosAires, Argentina. The G-77/CHINA underscoredthe  Assembly's Programme for the Further Implementation of Agenda 2:
importance of the Protocol’s entry into force as soon as possible ante IPCC's programme of work and forthcoming Third Assessment
cautioned against distractions. He expressed “extreme” disappoinReport (TAR); and welcomed UNEP's readiness to raise awareness

ment at the low targets agreed to in Kyoto and requested an additigiatate change. The conclusions were adopted with some modifica-
item on methodological issues related to Articles 4.8 and 4.9 (advetis@s.

effects of climate change and impacts of response measures). Dele-
gates debated this proposal at length, and agreed to include an iteANINEX | NATIONAL COMMUNICATIONS
“referrals from SBI.” On Wednesday, 3 June, delegates discussed Annex | national
No progress was made on the election of officers other than thecommunications (FCCC/SBSTA/1998/3 and MISC.3). The EU callec
Chair during the meeting and on 12 June the Chair noted that regidaR Secretariat report on revisions proposed by Parties for consider
groupings will continue consultations on this issue until SBSTA-9, ation at SBSTA-9 and COP-5. The MARSHALL ISLANDS said
which will meet in November. stricter adherence to existing reporting guidelines, rather than full-
The SBSTA held eight sessions, in addition to the three joint ~Scale revision, may be needed. The US highlighted the importance c
sessions held with the SBI to consider flexibility mechanisms. SBSixentories and sought revisions guidelines on policies and measure
considered the following agenda items: cooperation with relevant (P&MSs), national circumstances and technology transfer. CANADA
international organizations; methodological issues; education, trairfiif§d €xamples of inconsistencies in national communications stem-
and public awareness; development and transfer of technologies; &4§9 from a lack of clarity in the guidelines. SWITZERLAND said the
the roster of experts. Several contact groups also met to further dise@§setariat should record the difficulties cited by countries and callec
issues and draft conclusions. Several of the contact groups met in 10f révision of in-depth review projects. He also raised the issue of
closed sessions, while others were open to NGO attendance. The €XPert post reviews and evaluation of GHG inventories, and propose
second week the Bureau decided that all contact group meetings wdgRf of decisions for COP-4, calling for consideration of aerosols frol

be open unless the group obiected. combustion of fossil fuels, biomass burning and other greenhouse g:
P group o) precursors as highlighted by the IPCC's Second Assessment Repor

COOPERATION WITH RELEVANT INTERNATIONAL (SAR).

ORGANIZATIONS On Thursday, 11 June, the Chair's draft conclusions were present

On 2 June, delegates heard presentations by the representativesitihg upon Parties to provide submissions to the Secretariat on cla
the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), the Globdications, additions and/or amendments to the revised guidelines for
Climate Observatory Systems (GCOS) and the International the preparation of Annex | national communications and proposed ol
Geosphere and Biosphere Programme (IGBP) (FCCC/SBSTA/1998&#@kshop on national communications and another with the aim of
and MISC.1). Dr. Robert Watson (IPCC) said the IPCC will produceaddressing the problems identified by SBSTA. The draft conclusions
technical reports to assist the operationalization of the Protocol on(FCCC/SBSTA/1998/L.2) on this item were adopted without amend-
emission scenarios, which will review the literature and formulate anent.
new set of scenarios; methodological and technological issues in tech-
nology transfer; and aviation and the global atmosphere, which Wil('?XETH ODO_LOG| CAL 'SSUE_S i ) . )
assess the relevant atmospheric science, aviation technology and ~ Several issues were considered under this agenda item, includint
socioeconomic issues. The Third Assessment Report will place  emission inventories, land use change and forestry, the impacts of a
climate change in a broader evolving social context. single project on emissions in the commitment period, and the scien-

Dr. Thomas Spence (GCOS) said that a third draft of the work tific and methodological aspects of the proposal by Brazil based on
report covering the status of current systems and recommendatiorfiStoric emissions. _ o
and fundamental observations on short- and long-term variability, will EMISSION INVENTORIES: Delegates discussed emission
soon be available. He noted that systems currently in use are usuailiventories on Thursday, 4 June (FCCC/SBSTA/1998/4, and Misc.2)
not set up for climate purposes, resulting in some inconsistencies iihe US and the EU stressed the need to incorporate the additional
data collected. methodological issues raised by the Kyoto Protocol into the existing

Dr. Will Stephen (IGBP) said his organization's research provideifelines to enhance understanding of the three new gases under t
broad scientific context against which to judge proposed actions ugéo Protocol. POLAND stressed further work on emission factors
the Protocol. He said that when negotiating consideration should bgince these differ for different sectors, between and within countries.
given to issues such as the saturation of carbon sinks. He called for guidelines for the preparation of default projections.

Deliberations on this issue continued on Wednesday, 3 June. The, On Thursday, 11 June, the draft conclusions (FCCC/SBSTA/199¢
MARSHALL ISLANDS sought clarification from the IPCC regardingg-3) were adopted. They call for active participation by Parties in the
how regional implications will be covered in the Third Assessment ©Ngoing activities of the current programme of work on GHG invento
Report (TAR). The US discussed the current capacity of the IPCC f3es methodology and call upon Parties to organize a workshop with
undertake further methodological work, the structure envisioned byhe participation of methodological experts from the roster of experts
the IPCC to accommodate the short- and long-term needs of the @S well as other relevant organizations. They also note that the Kyot
Parties, and the expertise required to support work. The US, Protocol includes provisions related to GHG inventory methods and
AUSTRALIA and the EU urged Parties to prioritize observatory ~ fécognize the methodological issues arising from them.
systems and highlighted the deteriorating conditions of the systems inL AND USE CHANGE AND FORESTRY: On 4 June, delegates
use. The EU and UZBEKISTAN sought Global Environment Facilitpddressed land use change and forestry (LUCF) during general stats
(GEF) resources to assist developing countries and countries with ments on methodological issues. Some countries, including JAPAN
economies in transition in their observational work. The US, suppor@ed the US, noted the urgent need for a decision including anthropo-
by JAPAN and the EU, called for collaboration with the Internationggenic activities because this influences the ability of some countries:
Civil Aviation Organiation (ICAO) and International Maritime Orga-ratify and implement the Protocol. The EU reaffirmed thatinclusion o
nization (IMO) specifically in studies on bunker emissions. UGAND®NK activities should not undermine incentives for action on gross
underscored the absence of climate information on Africa and sougiission mitigation. MAURITANIA and ICELAND cautioned
support for meteorological and hydrological services. against concentrating solely on forests and conservation. The Alliant



Monday, 15 June 1998

Voal. 12 No. 86 Page 4

of Small Idand States (AOSIS) expressed concern over "blanket"
inclusion of all land use and forestry activitiesin sinks sincethiswould
introduce uncertainties and distract the Protocol from focusing on
fossil fuel dependence.

Several delegationssaid SBSTA should call onthe |PCC to address
outstanding technical questionsin aspecial report. The EU called for
work on methodol ogiesfor quantifying changesin soil carbonasa
result of forest activitiessince 1990. With AOSIS, JAPAN, theUSand
AUSTRALIA, hesought clarification of |PCC termsand definitions of
afforestation, reforestation and deforestation. CANADA said soil sink
projects should beincluded under the CDM. The US cautioned against
delaysin the CDM process and said sink-related activity must move
forward in the project-based process. COLOMBI A stressed that tech-
nical aspects of Kyoto Protocol Article 3.3 (sinksrelated to forests),
such as establishing what is meant by net changein stock, must be
resolved. Addressing Kyoto Protocol Article 3.4 (other sinks) depends
on thewill of some Parties. NORWAY and CANADA sought to estab-
lish aprocessto enable COP-5 to consider sinks.

A contact group on land use change and forestry (LUCF), chaired
by Paul Maclons (South Africa) and Maciej Sadowski (Poland), met
four timesin closed and open sessions. While agreeing on the need for
an | PCC report, delegates disagreed on the content, timing and consid-
eration of itsresults. Debate centered on: inter alia: holding awork-
shop to consider Article 3.4 after COP-4; specific articlesfor
consideration by IPCC initsspecial report; theimpact of addressing
only forests as sinks; and whether the special report will be considered
at COP-6, or at thefirst meeting of the Partiesto the Kyoto Protocol
(COP/MOP-1). On Thursday, 11 June, the contact group agreed to the
Chair’srevised draft conclusions.

On Friday, 12 June, SBSTA adopted draft conclusionson LUCF
(FCCC/SBSTA/1998/CRP.3). The draft conclusions state that SBSTA
understands Article 3.3 to mean: the adjustment to a Party’s assigned
amount shall be egual to the verifiable changesin carbon stocks during
the period 2008 to 2012 resulting from direct human-induced activities
of afforestation, reforestation and deforestation since 1 January 1990.
Wherethe result of thiscalculationisanet sink, thisvalue shall be
added to the Party’s assigned amount. Where the result of thiscalcula-
tionisanet emission, thisvalue shall be subtracted from the Party’s
assigned amount.

SBSTA also requested the Secretariat to organize aworkshop of
experts prior to COP-4 to consider data availability based on defini-
tionsby Partiesin relation to Article 3.3. Thisworkshop would report
to SBSTA-9. SBSTA also agreed to plan aworkshop after COP-4to
focusonissuesarising from Article 3.4. SBSTA requested the IPCC to
prepare aspecial report to enable the COP to take decisionson land
use, land change and forestry at COP/M OP-1. The special report
would address the methodol ogical, scientific and technical implica-
tions of the Protocol, particularly Article 3. The conclusions al so state
that issues not covered by the special report would beincludedin the
TAR. BRAZIL amended languagein the conclusionson "including
those nominated by the IPCC," to anyone "engaged inthe IPCC
process." The conclusionswere adopted as amended. JAPAN noted its
intention to make afinancial contribution to the workshop to be held
prior to COP-4.

IMPACTSOF SINGLE PROJECTSIN COMMITMENT
PERIOD: Inaproposal submitted to SBSTA (FCCC/SB/1998/
MISC.1/Add.2) on Wednesday, 3 June, ICELAND expressed concern
over the difficultiesfaced to small countries arising from the setting of
quantified limits on single project emissions and called for the adop-
tion of athreshold valuefor significant proportional impact and sepa-
rate reporting of process emissions. AOSI S and the US expressed
concern. The EU recalled that differencesin quantified emission
reductionswere already addressed and was reluctant to give excep-
tionsfor single projects. SWITZERLAND said the proposed would
threaten credibility.

On Thursday, 11 June, ICELAND presented arevised proposal
(FCCC/SBSTA/1998/MISC1/Add 4.) that included an extrarequire-
ment on the definition of small economies and also specified that sepa-
rate reporting of process emissions can only beinitiated in the event

that the assigned emissions amounts are exceeded asaresult of single
projects. He said that the suggested criterialimits application to only
three Annex | Parties. The del egates adopted draft conclusions (FCCC/
SBSTA/1998/L .5) that invited consideration of theissueat SBSTA-9
and acknowledged the additiona information provided.

SCIENTIFIC AND METHODOL OGICAL ASPECTSOF A
PROPOSAL MADE BY BRAZIL: On Friday, 5 June, delegates
considered the scientific and methodol ogical aspects of aproposal
made by Brazil (FCCC/AGBM/1997/M1SC.3/Add.1) during the
AGBM processand forwarded by COP-3to SBSTA. BRAZIL recalled
that the proposal contains a clean devel opment fund that has been
replaced by the Kyoto Protocol’s Clean Development Mechanism
(CDM). The proposal contains atechnical and scientific aspect that
establishes amethodol ogy for linking the historical responsibility for
increasing global temperature with the responsibility for lowering
emissions. He proposed a contact group to consider theissue at this
meeting and announced his Government will convene an expert
meeting soon. CHINA said the proposal highlights the “real” relative
responsibility of Annex | and non-Annex | countries. GREENPEACE
said some of the methodology needs enhancement, noting that the
proposal contains no methodology for several technical and policy
assumptions. He said further development would be useful for the
second review of adequacy of commitments. The EU, the US, SWIT
ZERLAND and AUSTRALIA said the proposal requires broader
discussion and expressed concern alotgt, alia: the method for
reconstructing historical emissions; indicators that ignore the rate of
change; and the availability of data. A group was convened to work ¢
concrete suggestions on advancing the proposal.

On Thursday, 11 June the contact group presented draft conclu-
sions (FCCC/SBSTA/1998/L.6) recognizing that there were
outstanding issues and welcoming the offer by Brazil to host a work-
shop and report back to SBSTA-9.

TECHNOLOGY TRANSFER AND TECHNOLOGY
INFORMATION CENTRES

On Thursday, 4 June, SBSTA considered development and trans
of technologies (FCCC/SBSTA/1998/5, INF.2, INF.5 and MISC.4).
Regarding the poor responses to the technology needs survey, the C
77/CHINA explained that this can be attributed to the absence of
specific frameworks for the implementation of the Convention.
AUSTRALIA called for the identification of synergies in technology
transfer activities under other Conventions. With the US, he noted th
national communications of non-Annex | countries would be helpful
in identifying technology needs and underscored the role of the priva
sector. The EU expressed hope that the flexibility mechanisms
proposed under the Protocol would facilitate the transfer of tech-
nology. URUGUAY noted the need to transfer concrete emissions
reduction projects, not just reports. He recommended a financial
mechanism for technology transfer. CHINA said the issue of tech-
nology transfer had been marginalized and noted that it is different
from information centers. COP-4 should address this as a separate
agenda item. CHILE noted the potential for technology transfers
through the CDM.

On the issue of technology information centres, delegates called
for: the identification and assessment of means to improve the flow c
information and technology; the establishment of regional centres;
greater engagement of the private sector; consideration of needs an
participation of beneficiaries; and the need to develop, strengthen ar
use existing institutions. On technology work programmes, delegate
recommended: improved government coordination; identification of
barriers to transfer; incentives for transfers by the private sector; anc
September deadline for submissions on the work programme.

The contact group on technology, co-chaired by Renate Christ
(EC) and Wanna Tanunchaiwatana (Thailand) met throughout the
week and considered the Co-Chairs' proposed conclusions. Delegat
debated various formulations on identification of technology informa
tion needs in non-Annex | communications and proposals on next
steps for technology information centres. Under a proposal from the
US and the EU, the first step would be to assess the extent to which
managers and technicians In relevant sectors are aware of such tect



Vol. 12 No. 86 Page 5 @E‘.”.’ th Negotiations Bulletin Monday, 15 June 1998

nol ogies and processes, followed by the identification of sourcesand The US highlighted work of programmes such as the IGBP-
supplies. SBSTA would request the Secretariat to, inter alia, identify ~ START (Systems for Analysis Research and Training) and the coord
the desired functions and servicesto be provided by suchcentresand  nating role the Secretariat can play in North-South exchange of expe

networks. Under aG-77/Chinaproposal, SBSTA would state that ence. The CENTRAL AFRICAN REPUBLIC and CANADA noted

initial priority should be given to supporting the establishment and the need for information and expertise sharing and a resource centre

enhancement of national and regional technology information centres.  for copyright-free material. The EU called for a review of the scope o

The contact group did not reach agreement on these issues. current education programmes and development of more specific
On Friday, 12 June, SBSTA considered draft conclusions (FCCC/  reporting guidelines for this issue.

SBSTA/1998/CRP5). The conclusions contain bracketed text noting The draft conclusions (FCCC/SBSTA/1998/CRP.2): note the

that non-Annex | communications are an important means of identi- views expressed by the meeting; call for Parties to fully present their

fying technology information needsto facilitate [adequate adaptation  activities related to this article when submitting their national commu
to climate change] or[theimplementation of their obligationsunder the nications; and invite Parties to submit by 14 December 1998 their
Convention] and urging non-Annex | Partiesto identify their needsin  views on possible means of promoting the implementation of this
accordance with decision 10/CP.2, paragraph 20. article as well as proposals on how to integrate this into SBSTA's wol
Regarding the bracketed text, the G-77/CHINA and the programme. The conclusions were adopted with some modifications
MARSHALL ISLANDS preferred thefirst bracketed proposal. The
USfavored the second formulation, noting thefirst option limitsthe RO%LElgiggyE;(\]PuazTgeIegates considered the agenda item on the
scope of the paragraph. He said the latter would include referencesto ' ]
consultations throughout the day. Delegates agreed to: “adequate US and NEW ZEALAND called for regular reviews of the roster as
adaptation to climate change in accordance with decision 10/cp.2 Well as inclusion of gender considerations in the identification of
paragraph 21, and to facilitate implementation of their obligations P€rsons to recommenid.response to a query from ETHIOPIA on the
under the Convention in accordance with 10/CP.2, paragraph 20, daée of previous submissions to the roster, the Chair noted that the
may include other relevant information in accordance with 10/CP.200Mmpilation was an ongoing process. BOTSWANA stressed the nee
Under the conclusions, SBSTA noted the results of the expandd@l @dequate time for notifying and inviting the experts, and, supporte

: gt HINA, stressed the need for regional distribution of experts. Dra
technology and technology needs survey and that the identificatio {CHINA, : 4
technology information needs at the country level is an important s clusions of the deliberations (FCCC/SBSTA/1998/L.4) were

in relation to the improvement and development of modalities for tH&0Pted.

diffusion and transfer of technologies. The conclusions also state that

SBSTA took up the question of technology information centres but SUBSIDIARY BODY FOR IMPLEMENTATION

was not able to reach consensus. Views of the EU, the US and the G- On Tuesday, 2 June, Chair Bakary Kante (Senegal) opened the fi
77/China were compiled in document FCCC/SBSTA/1998/MISC.5meeting of the SBI. Michael Zammit Cutajar, FCCC Executive Secre
Discussion of this issue will continue at SBSTA-9 with the intention tafry, noted that 37 countries have signed the Kyoto Protocol, includir

forwarding its conclusions for consideration by COP-4. Parties representing 39% of Annex | £€missions. The G-77/

. CHINA called on delegates not to be distracted from implementing th
ARTICLE 6 OF THE CONVENTION: EDUCATION, TRAINING : : . -
AND PUBLIC AWARENESS Convention, noting the second review of Annex | Party commitments

due by December 1998. He also stressed decisions on new and add

On Wednesday, 10 June, delegates considered for the first timgjona) i ial i te imol tati f oL
Article 6 of the FCCC -- Education, Training and Public Awarenesscl;ong dggggﬁsrgﬁc;géﬁso%rgi’|tnrgﬁ§fqeur.a © Impiementation of previot

The Chair reported that the Secretariat and UNEP held a workshopthg, . sg|_8 held nine sessions over the course of the two-week

previous day. The workshop highlighted the scope for cooperation gn iy “The SBJ considered the following agenda items: election of
public awareness and noted: that public awareness should not be _ . ersgéther than the Chair: national con?ml,?nications; financial

limited to particular events but should be part of !arger efforts; the n hanism; second review of the adequacy of Annex | Party commi
for more effective climate awareness strategies; the need for Parti . ; .

rovide more information on particular awareness building strategi ts; amendments to the FCCC annexes; arrangements for interg
P P 9 9%&Mmmental meetings; administrative and financial matters; and

and that Art|ple 6 can be.operat|onal|zed by SBSTA. . . involvement of non-governmental organizations. Several contact
UNEP reiterated the importance of public support in the imple- ,4ps met to further discuss issues and draft conclusions. Several

mentation of the ConventioBRI LANKA and IRAN called for equal the contact groups met in closed sessions, while others were open t

distribution of information packages prepared by CC:INFO to Cou%ﬁo attendance. The second week the Bureau decided that all cont

tries beyond those included in country study programmes. SWITZE&5,n meetinas would be open unless the aroup obiected
LAND said that the existing information units of the Secretariat an P ¢ P group obl ’

UNEP should be used to further work under Article 6 and, with the ELECTION OF OFFICERS OTHER THAN THE CHAIR
CENTRAL AFRICAN REPUBLIC and IRAN, called upon the IPCC  Chair Kante announced Iran's nomination as SBI Vice Chair for
to provide reports in languages other than English. Asia on 2 June. At SBI's closing session on 12 June, he informed the
The AFRICAN GROUP, with SRI LANKA and THE GAMBIA, group that regional coordinators had reached no agreement on elect
called on Parties to make resources available for institutional capaottyfficers. He proposed keeping the item under consideration for SE
enhancement and to expand the sphere of African countries particB. Delegates stated their positions on the issue. On behalf of the
pating in country studies. She said that there was a need to operatiestern European and Others Group (WEOG), AUSTRIA recalled
alize Article 6 and expand activities to all facets of society, and that the Rules of Procedure allow a second term and called for makir
stressed that such activities are neither cheap nor short term. To thisse of the experience of WEOG's candidate for Vice-Chair. She
end, she stated that the proposal to expand the mandate of UNEP &xpressed WEOG's willingness to undertake further consultations.
worth considering. Supported by INDONESIA and CANADA, she  The PHILIPPINES, on behalf of the Asian Group, and supported
called on SBSTA to request the Secretariat to prepare a paper on v,yyrlNDm\, PAKISTAN, CHINA, SAUDI ARABIA, INDONESIA,
under Article 6 for consideration at SBSTA-9. She recommended thaIWAIT and IRAN, stated that, on the election of the Vice-Chair,
SBlinclude a budget-line for the implementation of Article 6 in they had asked for a guarantee to honor the UN principle of geograp

funding proposals as well as for translation of documents; and notggaj rotation after the next term, but this had been rejected.
the importance of timely delivery of resources for the implementation

of education programmes.



Monday, 15 June 1998

Vol. 12 No. 86 Page 6

ANNEX | PARTY COMMUNICATIONS

Delegates began discussion on Annex | Party communicationson
Tuesday, 2 June. Three scheduling optionsfor future communications
and review were considered. Many Annex | Partiesfavored: length-
ening the period between submissions of national communications;
interim electronic reports; and synchronized reporting. Many favored
2001 for the next communication, but SWITZERLAND said informa-
tion on achievement of stabilization by 2000 could not be provided
until 2002. The US called for less emphasis on details of domestic
actionsor national circumstances and moretimefor data collection on
emissionstrading and CDM projects. The EU and NEW ZEALAND
favored afourth national communication deadline of 2005 and a
strengthened reporting process | eading to the commitment period
2008-2012. CHINA, with the US, noted COP decisions urging Annex
Il Partiesto include measures taken for technol ogy transfer. The Chair
invited Partiesto submit nominationsfor aroster of expertsfor thein-
depth review of Annex | Parties’ second national communications.

Draft conclusions on national communicationsfrom Annex |
Parties (FCCC/SBI/1998/CRP.2) were submitted for SBI consider-
ation on Monday, 8 June. An EU proposal for adraft COP-4 decision
on revised guidelineswas not supported. A SWISS proposal not to

REVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL MECHANISM

On Thursday, 4 June, the Chair introduced discussion of the revie
of the financial mechanism, noting it must be completed with a COP-
decision. On guidance to the GEF, the Chair noted that new needs h:
arisen since guidance was provided in 1996. The G-77/CHINA callec
for: GEF adherence to COP guidance; no funding of activities incon-
sistent with FCCC principles; and, with EGYPT, attention to adapta-
tion measures. EGYPT called for long-term sustainability. CHINA
called for: a more streamlined project approval process; transparenc
in incremental cost calculation, and, with IRAN, no conditionalities
attached to the activities of multilateral funding institutions, which wa:s
opposed by CANADA.

The EU distinguished GEF review from future guidance; and, witl
SWITZERLAND, CANADA and VENEZUELA, proposed making it
the permanent FCCC financing mechanism, subject to future review
SWITZERLAND stressed adequacy and predictability in the flow of
funds. SAUDI ARABIA cautioned against a premature conclusion.
CANADA favored CDM support for adaptation activities. JAPAN
noted its contribution of 20% of GEF funding and called for extensive
evaluation. IRAN criticized a GEF overemphasis on energies. The
Chair asked Dan Reifsnyder (US) and John Ashe (Antigua and

limit submission of Parties' views to “the scheduling of” subsequenBarbuda) to co-chair a contact group to prepare a draft decision.
communications was accepted. As amended, the document calls for On Friday, 12 June, Co-Chair Reifsnyder stated that the contact
Parties who have not done so to finalize dates of in-depth review vi%fgup had not been able to complete its work. The Chair noted docu:
submit their annual national GHG inventory for 1998, and/or submitents on Parties' views on the review of the financial mechanism an
their second communications. The document also urges all Partiesd@ditional guidance to the GEF (FCCC/SBI/1998/MISC.4 and Add.1
take actions to enlarge the participation of experts from non-Annexdnd it was concluded that further deliberations are needed at SBI-9.

Parties in the Roster of Experts that will review the communication®arties are invited to submit comments to the Secretariat by 15 Augt
and to submit views on subsequent communications for considerati@®s, for compilation and distribution at SBI-9.

by SBI-9.
Y SECOND REVIEW OF THE ADEQUACY OF ANNEX | PARTY

NON-ANNEX | COMMUNICATIONS COMMITMENTS
~ On Thursday, 4 June, the SBI took up non-Annex | communica-  On Wednesday, 3 June, SBI began consideration of the second
tions. The Secretariat stated that eight initial communications havereview of the adequacy of Annex | Party commitments. The G-77/
been received, 23 are expected in 1998 and 30 in 1999. The deadlDBINA, supported by many G-77 members and CHINA, said the
was March 1998. The EU and others called for a COP-4 decision oRy@to Protocol was the first step in the review process and noted tha
country expert reviews. The G-77/CHINA highlighted financial andthe group was working on a draft decision. The EU welcomed Kyoto
technical constraints and capacity building for adaptation. SRl Protocol provisions for a review at COP/MOP-2 and for initiating
LANKA called for training for adaptation in all regions. THAILAND consideration of second period commitments. Noting the desire for
noted difficulties with the adaptat_lon. assessment model. .GEORGmncreasingW global participation, he said the EU was ready for discus
and AZERBAIJAN stressed continuing GEF support. Assistance W&igns with all Parties at COP-4 and beyond, under FCCC Article 7.2
requested for: finance and know-how (MOROCCO); technical neegggular review of Convention implementation. He noted an FCCC
(BURKINA FASO); longer-term implementation (CENTRAL provision for non-Annex | Parties to opt for targets.
AFRICAN REPUBLIC, ARGENTINA); vulnerability (ARGEN- AUSTRALIA and the EU said all the scientific evidence indicates
TINA); emission mitigation in other sectors and formulation of implenat actions by Annex | countries alone would be insufficient. The US
mentation programmes (URUGUAY, ARGENTINA); and second  noted findings that this is due to the small number of Parties involvec
national communications (SENEGAL, MEXICO). ~ SAUDI ARABIA, THE GAMBIA, COLOMBIA, IRAN and INDIA

The G-77/CHINA reminded UNEP and UNDP that they are implghposed any consideration of voluntary commitments at COP-4. The
menting agencies of the operating entity of the financial mechanis,tCENTRAL AFRICAN REPUBLIC called for a decision on the

NIGERIA suggested GEF subregional offices for project monitoringi«dequacy of Annex | commitments before consideration of other
BURKINA FASO, THAILAND and AZERBAIJAN called for trans- - country commitments. IRAN said it is natural to assess new Annex |

lations of guidelines. SENEGAL and ARGENTINA noted constraingymmitments.

on translation and dissemination of communications. The EUand  ByRKINA FASO emphasized obligations related to developing
AUSTRALIA stressed accelerating submission of initial communicggyntries, specifically on technology transfer. CHINA, supported by
tions, assisted by the GEF. UZBEKISTAN stressed workshops for HUNGARY, called for a review of FCCC implementation, not just
information exchange for Central Asia. BENIN requested facilitatiofommitments. CANADA said future reviews should cover the effect
of conference attendance for delegates from Africa. of actions by all Parties over time and that SBSTA should provide

A contact group, chaired by John Ashe (Antigua and Barbuda) geténtific and technical information for such a review. HUNGARY
Dan Reifsnyder (US), was formed to consider non-Annex | Party noted many Annex | countries will meet their FCCC obligations. He
communications as well as review and guidance to the financial m sed deferring SBI consideration of the review to other bodies.
anism. On Wednesday, 10 June, Co-Chair Reifsnyder reported thagieDI ARABIA recommended discussing non-Annex | Parties'
contact group had appointed a smaller group to recommend a decisi®imitments only after the Kyoto Protocol enters into force.

~ On Friday, 12 June, the Chair introduced documents that note the SWITZERLAND said the second review sholilater alia,

views of Parties together with the observations of the Secretariat address stabilization of GHG emissions by Annex | Parties, and, citir
(FCCC/SBI/1998/INF.3 and Add.1), including information on a worlkrticle 7.2 (a), said the issue of adequacy should not be restricted to
shop in Malaysia to assist deliberations. Contact group Co-Chair Raiinex | Parties. The EU noted that Articie 7 discusses review of
snyder reported that the Co-Chairs had failed the SBI Chair, having“feiplementation” of the Convention, not just targets. The US noted
out of time to reach a substantive solution. It was decided to contintigat the objective of the Convention cannot be achieved simply
discussion at SBI-9.



Vol. 12 No. 86 Page 7 @E‘.”.’ th Negotiations Bulletin Monday, 15 June 1998

through Article4.2(a) or (b). CHINA insisted that Article 7'sreference BURKINA FASO called for arad hoc committee, supported by
to “the” Parties does not include “all” Parties and warned “the Norttihe Secretariat, to assess Annex | Party efforts and report to the COF
that pushing too hard risks complete failure. The G-77/CHINA, supported by the MARSHALL ISLANDS, called
Discussion continued on Friday, 5 June. The G-77/CHINA, for SBSTA work on this item and a possible expert meeting before
supported by TOGO, said that: COP-4's second review must respee©P-4. The MARSHALL ISLANDS called for regional workshops
the FCCC mandate and not be distracted by extraneous considera@igi@daptation. SAUDI ARABIA proposeihter alia, that: the Secre-
of new commitments for non-Annex | Parties; COP-4 should conveiéiat's analytical framework combine consideration of adverse effec
the next review at the same time as the review at COP/MOP-2, in and impacts; SBI form a permanent committee on implementation of
accordance with Article 9.2 of the Protocol; and subsequent reviewArticles 4.8 and 4.9; COP-4 request information from Annex | Parties
should take place in the year preceding the termination of successi¥ policies and measures, fossil fuel imports during the first commit-
Protocol commitment periods. ment period and estimated effects on other imports from developing
The US asked the G-77/CHINA if the intention was to confine countries; and processes not discriminate against any country cluste
discussion of the second review to that agenda item at COP-4; anddentified in Articles 4.8 and 4.9. L _
about the timing of future reviews. The G-77/CHINA: said the second AOSIS stressed the urgency of the question of insurance and, wit
review should be limited to that foreseen in Article 4; noted it would the MARSHALL ISLANDS, viewed the additions to the agenda item
logical to hold the next review at the same time as COP/MOP-2; ariille as technical rather than substantive. The EU supported CDM
indicated flexibility on timing of subsequent reviews. Referring to  assistance for adaptation, but stressed a focus on mitigation. He not
newly industrialized countries, the US expressed interest in explorithgt action on Article 4.8 must await more certainty on the effects of
ways to move beyond the static world created by the Annex | list. Afossil fuel use, calling for further discussion. VENEZUELA opposed
way to modify the Annexes was needed. HUNGARY said the timinfimiting action to studies and called for a COP-4 decision. The US
of reviews should not be linked to the unratified Kyoto Protocol. ~ asked for more time for comment. SAUDI ARABIA opposed delaying

SAUDI ARABIA recalled the existing FCCC provision for any formation of a contact group on this.
Party to undertake Annex | commitments. PERU said the Kyoto On Monday, 8 June, the G-77/CHINA, supported by SAUDI
Protocol was a very delicate balance. Raising developing country ARABIA, CHINA, INDIA, VENEZUELA and ETHIOPIA, called on
commitments at COP-4 would be a danger for the international ~ the SBI to identify the needs of developing countries, utilizing the
community and for the environment. CHINA said the G-77/China  SBSTA and the IPCC. She called for a contact group to prepare a dr:
position clearly stated that developing countries would not accept i§iggision to take the item up at all future COPs and establish a joint
commitments under any guise. MEXICO said questions on OECD SBI/SBSTA working group. The EU welcomed the Secretariat's doct
membership are inappropriate. VENEZUELA stated that Article ~ ment (FCCC/SBI/1998/CRP.1), and noted, on the paper's analytical
4.2(d) only calls for review of commitments under 4.2(a) and (b). framework, that there was an overstatement of the certainty of infor-
AOSIS said that Parties should not distract from Protocol implemeit@tion on adaptation. Possible actions were not restricted to fundinc
tion, noting the CDM will assist sustainable growth with climate  insurance and technology transfer. The SBI would not reach definitiv
protection. conclusions by COP-4 but could initiate work by SBSTA. The US

The Chair asked Jennifer Irish (Canada) and Margaret Mukaha@nticipated dramatic improvements in the state of knowledge
nana (Zimbabwe) to co-chair a contact group to prepare a draft de§oncerning adaptation in the years ahead. He noted that the FCCC
sion. On Wednesday, 10 June, the group presented a draft conclus&R{}fins no provision obliging Annex | or Annex |1 Parties to compen
the name of the Co-Chairs, reflecting different views (FCCC/SBI/ Sate countries that could be affected by response measures. Any su
1998/CRP.4). The draft conclusioigter alia: reiterate the conclu-  ©bligation could create a perverse disincentive to reduce GHGs.
sions of COP-1 that FCCC Article 4.2(a) and (b) are not adequate; Instead, FCCC Article 4.8, on response measures, implies that Parti
recognize the Kyoto Protocol as an important step; and note differiggould implement commitments while avoiding or minimizing
views of the G-77/China and others on the following: whether new IMpacts on developing country Parties. .
commitments by non-Annex | Parties should be introduced; whether GEORGIA noted the readiness of many non-Annex | countries to
the review should consider action by all Parties as necessary to mdake on voluntary commitments on GHGs, with adequate support
the objective of the Convention or just to Article 4.2(a) and (b); andunder Article 4 within the framework of the CDM. A contact group co-
whether the third review should be carried out at COP/MOP-2 or bghaired by Tibor Faragd (Hungary) and Mohammad Reza Salamat
determined by the COP at future sessions. The draft conclusions irfUigg) was formed.

Parties to submit views by 15 August 1998 to the Secretariat for On Tuesday, 9 June, the contact group received a Co-Chairs'

compilation by SBI-9. compilation of written inputs from three Parties/regional groups, alon
with a draft decision. On 10 June, the contact group discussed the C

AMENDMENTSTO THE FCCC ANNEXES Chairs' text. The G-77/CHINA proposed modifications based on its

On Wednesday, 3 June, delegates considered review of informagieift decision paper. On the “analytical framework,” the UK,
and possible decisions under Article 4.2(f) (amendments to the FCROSTRALIA and the US raised a number of questions. JAPAN
Annexes). AUSTRALIA, CANADA and the EU requested informa- cautioned that a reference to Protocol Articles 2.3 and 3.14 suggeste
tion on Turkey's approach to responsibilities. The EU said all OEClnplementation of the Protocol. On separating the effects of climate
countries should have stated commitments. The US said any decisiange and impacts of response measures, AUSTRALIA said differe
on review should include a provision that it be a regular item on themodeling approaches are used. SAUDI ARABIA, supported by the
COP agenda. The Chair requested a draft decision. Informal consulisi TED ARAB EMIRATES, said the distinction could be made later.
tions undertaken by Amb. Luis Herrera (Venezuela) did not result irhe G-77/CHINA proposed alternative language from Decision 3/
consensus. On 12 Juthe Chair proposed and delegates agreed thatP.3 on undertaking a process. The US bracketed references to
the SBI mandate continuing discussions at SBI-9 on Turkey's requesbtocol Articles 2.3 and 3.14. On actions necessary to meet needs :
to be deleted from the Annex | and Annex Il lists. concerns of developing countries, the US and the EU proposed

ADVERSE EFFECTSAND IMPACTS OF RESPONSES fOI%V\:]Inlg:]Lt?L? nlz nﬁiaggn?;;%(r:ois :g((::loené\l/'gr'led to review a Co-Chairs
4 822 dTE%r%gg\)//éfs\;ugf?ééPseosfElliﬁr?gtl(e%%émgleeg]nednitr%t;)%r::g g}rt'decpmpilation todether with a G-77/China draft decision paper. Parties

responses). The Chair noted that consideration of Decision 3/CP.3 snsari(tjar?tv gfr égiefggzlf?gé?sbg glri‘r?gttggt":s ggZ‘T',]%C",‘:’/‘teerS \(,:vclxtr?stiggr
the related Protocol Articles 2.3 and 3.14 had been added to the aggidd -\ -ertainties” regarding the impact of response measures. The
item, as requested by COP-3. The Secretariat introduced the docu .

. : - the EU and AUSTRALIA said the uncertainties regarding the
tation (FCCC/SBI/1998/CRP.1), offering an analytical framework tq_~"
facilitate response. 9mpact of response measures are greater.



Monday, 15 June 1998 @E‘.’f th Negotiations Bulletin Vol. 12 No. 86 Page 8

The G-77/CHINA and the US supported del etion of a paragraph On Monday, 8 June, discussion continued on arrangements for
noting the difficulty in distinguishing between natural and human- COP-4 and the calendar of meetings. The Chair noted a General
induced climate change. The EU placed it in brackets. Assembly (GA) resolution asking conferences to avoid conflicts with

VENEZUELA proposed adding areferenceto assistingtheCOP/  GA meetings. After discussion, the Secretariat noted it was for gover
MOP-1initsconsideration of the Protocol articles, Alternative ments to decide how to address this. On COP-4's provisional agend:

proposal s referencing the Protocol were placed in brackets. The EU, the US, supported by JAPAN and CANADA, said the item on volun-
supported by AUSTRALIA, JAPAN andtheUS, preferredtoreplacea  tary commitments by non-Annex | Parties should be retained. CHINA
list of information requests with areference to aparagraph onidentifi- ~ with SAUDI ARABIA and BURKINA FASO, said this item could
cation of effectsand impacts. lead to renewed confrontation. The G-77/CHINA, supported by

On 12 June, the SBI considered the Chair’s draft conclusions, BRAZIL, SAUDI ARABIA and BURKINA FASO, said there was no

which state that the SBI, in response to a COP-3 decision, will under- ~ 9roup support for an item on voluntary commitments and, with

take aprocessto identify and determine actionsto identify the special CHINA, called for transparency in drafting high-level statements.
needs of developing country Partiesarising from the adverseeffectsof  JAPAN noted a prospective proposal on incentives. The EU called fc
climate change and/or theimpacts of theimplementation of response @ Prioritized work programme for Protocol activities.

measures. They notethat Articles 2.3 and 3.14 of the Kyoto Protocol On Friday, 12 June, the SBI considered draft conclusions by the
are also relevant to considerations of FCCC Articles4.8and 4.9,and  Chair dated 11 June. On the calendar of meetings, a request for the
that in accordance with decision 1/CP3 ajoint approach wasadopted. ~ Bureau to decide on meetings for 1999 at its July session was oppos

The conclusions al so note discussion by the contact group together by SAUDI ARABIA. The calendar for 1999 will thus remain the same

with text the contact group did not havetimeto consider. The SBl isto ~ as for 1998. Changes will be considered for 2000 and beyond at COl

continueits consideration of theitem at SBI-9 with aview to recom- 4, and a 12-month calendar will continue to be used for the time bein

mending adraft decision for adoption at COP-4. On the date and venue of COP-5, the conclusions note Jordan's offe
The Chair noted that discussion on theissue beganin 1992. The and a decision to finalize consideration of the decision at SBI-9,

US, supported by JAPAN and HUNGARY, proposed, onthelinkage  inviting other Parties to propose venues to the Secretariat by Octobe
between the FCCC articles and the Protocol provisions, replacing a 1998. On documentation, the conclusions take note of the Secretaric
reference to “a joint approach to consideration of the issues” with a€fforts to improve dissemination of information through electronic

reference to an amendment to the provisional agenda item under wihgia-

the Protocol Articles 2.3 and 3.14 were placed in parentheses. He $aifl1| NI STRATIVE AND FINANCIAL MATTERS
the modification would flag the relationship between the two and IeaveOn administrative and financial matters, the Executive Secretary

options open. ZIMBABWE, on behalf of the G-77/CHINA, said §ﬁ%ted, at the final meeting of the SBI, that the Secretariat will presen

e o et Slfassessment of otk mplaions asing ffom COP- decisions a
ment and noted a lack of cooperation. With CHINA, SAUDI other possible future actions. He noted three options: postpone new

k until the next programme budget period; undertake new work
ARABIA, INDIA and IRAN, she regretted the absence of developed’O'¥ ; ) - .
country Parties from a scheduled contact group meeting the previc%%th'.n the current bud%et ?ﬁ/ dlsplacm|g< current work commitments; o
night. SAUDI ARABIA reminded Parties that they should consider t8'@!n NEW reSOUrces for the new work.

progress on all subjects as a package. They could not expect that JexgbL VEMENT OF NGOS

oping countries would proceed on some issues while their interests ang,« chair introduced discussion on involvement of NGOs on

ursday, 4 June, calling for consensus at SBI-8. The US, opposed |
e EU, called for including labor, agriculture, and quasi-government:
progress at COP-4 and that such a request be attached to the draflities. SWITZERLAND gextendedgthis to all Ager?da Zlgmajor c
conclusion. , __groups. The US and CANADA opposed exclusion of NGOs from the
The US objected to G-77/China comments about other Parties %b?'ﬁact group on flexibility mechanisms. General support was

of willingness to discuss the issues. He said the problem onthe  expressed for Chair discretion on NGO access to informal meetings.
previous evening was that so many groups were meeting on differefie CLIMATE ACTION NETWORK asked for a proposal for addi-

issues at the same time. His delegation was unable to cover everythgih participation and transparency in registration. An industry repr
but he fully expected to engage in the issue at the next session. Hesglggative called for greater access to informal meetings with the Cha
proposed an amendment to the Chair's conclusions to reflect agree- Monday, 8 June, the Chair introduced his draft conclusions

ment in the contact group on referencing the effects of climate change cc/spi/1998/CRP.3). The US, with others, deleted a request for
and/or the impact of implementation of response measures. On SAQkYitiona| information on the objectives of NGOs. The EU supported
ARABIAS proposal, HUNGARY said the relevant textin the draft gyisting arrangements accrediting three NGO constituencies. SAUD

conclusion was unfinished. This could be considered in relation to
. o RABIA, supported by CHINA and VENEZUELA, proposed that
Saudi Arabia's request. IRAN suggested that the SBI send a Ietter'tA‘ Palte py - p P

the SBSTA Chair requesting that he include consideration of methgtQartles rather than "Chairmen” agree on NGO participation in

. ) ! i’ ormal contact groups. Delegates accepted a US compromise
ological and technical aspects of Articles 4.8 and 4.9 in his agenda. wing participgﬁon%mess tﬁe group olgjects. The finallapaper also

SBSTA-9. The EU emphasized his understanding of the concemns i esfs the Secretariat to continue consultations with representativ
developing countries, particularly those vulnerable to climate changg,
On Saudi Arabia’s proposal, he said the draft conclusions contain & 4 tor improving availability of documentation to NGOs
invitation to SBSTA regarding methodological work and this appears : . . i

in square brackets. It remains an unresolved issue and it would be,.On Friday, 12 June, the Chair proposed amending a paragraph o

_ _ o : onclusion on NGO participation in the report of the SBI session t
\évrré):r?dtgdpre empta COP-4 decision. The conclusions were adoptérgég that representatives of NGOs may be allowed to participate “as

observers in open-ended” informal contact groups, unless the Partie
ARRANGEMENTS FOR INTERGOVERNMENTAL MEETINGS ~ object. CHINA, supported by SAUDI ARABIA and INDIA, and
On Friday, 5 June, the SBI discussed arrangements for intergowtRosed by the US, called for deletion of “the” before Parties as “the
mental meetings (FCCC/SBI/1998/3). The Executive Secretary  Implies that all Parties would have to object to NGO participation
announced Jordan's offer to host COP-5. ARGENTINA noted ongofjore they could be barred. The US, with CANADA and the EU, sai
informal consultations on a new proposed item for COP-4's agendatnunderstanding when the conclusion was adopted was that conta
voluntary commitments by non-Annex | Parties. The PHILIPPINESZroup Chairs would seek to determine the sense of the group itself.

requested a separate item on review of development and transfer gfAUDI ARABIA objected, stating that one Party's objection is enougt
teghnomgies (Dpecision 7/CP.2). P to block NGO attendance. The US observed that the report was to

different NGOs to arrive at an improved set of NGO constituencies



Voal. 12 No. 86 Page 9

Monday, 15 June 1998

reflect what happened when the original conclusionswere adopted, not
current discussion. Upon a suggestion by the Executive Secretary, it
was agreed that the subparagraph would be | eft unchanged but placed
after the other subparagraphs on NGO participation. It will beimmedi-
ately followed by a paragraph saying that the Secretariat is mandated
to draft adecision on thisissuefor SBI-9 to consider for recommenda-
tionto COP-4. The report was adopted with these amendments.

SBSTA/SBI JOINT SESSIONS

SBI and SBSTA met jointly threetimesto consider: activities
implemented jointly (AlJ) under the pilot phase; joint implementation
() (decision /CP.3, paragraph 5(c)); the Clean Devel opment Mecha-
nism (CDM)(decision 1/CP.3, paragraph 5(€)); and emissionstrading
(decision 1/CP.3, paragraph 5(b)). A SBSTA/SBI contact group met
four timesto prepare adraft decision(s) on: the division of labor for
forthcoming SBI and SBSTA sessions; substantive issuesregarding
AlJ, Jl, the CDM, and emissionstrading; and elaboration of awork
programme.

OPENING STATEMENTS

On 2 and 3 June, thejoint SBI/SBSTA sessions heard wel coming
remarks and opening statements. Maria Julia Alsogaray, Secretary of
Natural Resources and Sustainable Development of Argentina, said
that thereisagreat interest, almost a consensus, on the early func-
tioning of the CDM and emissionstrading. She urged delegatesto
devel op the elements common to all flexibility mechanismstogether.

The EU stressed that Parties must start with domestic action and
said flexibility mechanisms, which must be cost effective and verifi-
able, should not create loopholes that weaken the commitments to b
made at COP-4. On the uncertainties surrounding the new mecha-
nisms, AOSIS called for a non-compliance regime and noted their
supplementary role. He noted the importance AOSIS attaches to ad:
tation. NORWAY opposed quantitative caps on the use of flexibility
mechanisms. With COLOMBIA, COSTA RICA and IRAN, he noted
they are supplemental to domestic action. SOUTH AFRICA and
IRAN noted that COP-4 cannot finalize work on setting modalities an
guidelines for the mechanisms. SLOVENIA reiterated the urgency of
action, calling for proposed working groups to provide sufficient inpu
to COP-4.

AUSTRALIA, supported by RUSSIA, called for cost-effective
mechanisms and said that credits should be transferable across the
three mechanisms for the achievement of the Protocol's aims.
ARGENTINA stressed the importance of setting COP-4's priorities
and suggested moving on those issues, such as the CDM, where
consensus has been achieved.

EMISSIONSTRADING: On emissions trading, the EU said the
adoption and ratification of a compliance regime is a prerequisite for
emissions trading, as is careful consideration of risk-sharing betweel
buyers and sellers. The US favored a simple set of rules for emissior
trading and specifiednter alia, that no formal trading should occur
until the Protocol enters into force. A Party should not be able to sell
once it has emitted its allowed amounts during any period, i.e., “defic

UNEP Executive Director Klaus Topfer pointed to the connectidfading.” He opposed limiting the percentages that can be sold. NEW

between flexibility and minimizing repercussions for economic

ZEALAND called for early decisions on transparent emissions tradin

growth potential. He underlined UNGASS's call for improved sciento harness economic efficiency to the achievement of environmental

tific knowledge on the linkage between environmental convention
policy coherence and public awareness. He expressed the hope th

task force could support conventions.

oals, backed by a firm compliance regime. He objected to a propos
lfieilings on amounts traded. The REPUBLIC OF KOREA and
NIGERIA stressed that emissions trading should supplement nation:

FCCC Executive Director Michael Zammit Cutajar said he had reductions and cautioned that rules to govern it must be defined in

suggested that the Bureau consider inviting UNEP to offer help on
specific issues with linkages to other processes. He spoke of an e
sion of activities seeking to contribute to the design of the three ne
mechanisms envisaged in the Protocol. The sooner Parties set the ¥
rules, the sooner economic and institutional actors could adjust thef®

plans.

advance to avoid compliance and verification problems. CHINA note:
temissions trading is illegal until the COP defines relevant rules,
rinciples, and guidelines. Supporting emissions trading, RUSSIA

jdithe Russian people had paid a very high price for “hot air” by

ucing their living standards.

CANADA tabled a discussion paper on principles, modalities,

SBI Chair Kante recalled that the CDM, emissions trading and 'ules and guidelines for an international emissions trading regime or
jointimplementation are new to the agenda of the subsidiary bodieRehalf of Australia, Canada, Iceland, Japan, New Zealand, Norway,

This joint meeting was designed to identify preparatory work need
for COP-4 and reach agreement on a work schedule. Key issues t

éﬁjssia and the US. The tradable unit would be Assigned Amount Uni
d

AUs). AAUs would be denominated in “C@quivalent” and would

address included identifying questions that can be resolved by COPxgress one metric tonne of @quivalent emissions. Each Annex B
and essential areas of work on each mechanism, such as methoddRegty could issue serialized AAUs from its “assigned amounts.” AAU:

ical issues.

would be valid until used to offset emissions for the purposes of

The Secretariat introduced the following documents: Mechanisgantributing to compliance. Parties could trade directly and/or autho-

for cooperative implementation (FCCC/SB/1998/1); Submissions lfiize legal entities to acquire and or transfer AAUs. Each Annex B Par
intergovernmental and non-governmental organizations (FCCC/SBvould need to comply with Protocol Article 5 (national emission esti-
1998/MISC.2); Submissions from Parties on preparatory work needwtion systems) and Protocol Article 7 (emissions inventories). They
for COP-4 (FCCC/SB/1998/MISC.1); and Update on activities implaust also establish and maintain a national system for recording the
mented jointly (FCCC/SBSTA/1998/INF.3). “assigned amounts” and tracking AAUs held, transferred or acquirec
Delegates made statements on flexibility mechanisms in generf&iach Party would also be required to report annually on activities an
as well as on specific mechanisms. The G-77/CHINA said the jointo€ assessed on compliance at the end of the commitment period.
cooperation mechanisms bring about technical, political and other neWwCLEAN DEVEL OPMENT MECHANISM: On the CDM, the
uncertainties that must be settled. Many speakers, including EU noted the need to agree on: what contribution the CDM can makz
URUGUAY, NICARAGUA and SAUDI ARABIA, cautioned against to Annex | QELROs; the operational entities of the CDM,; and the forn
spending an inordinate amount of time discussing cooperative meehat identity of the various institutions established under Article 12 of
nisms, which only serve selected countries. the Protocol. He emphasized that this article does not refer to remov
The AFRICAN GROUP said cooperative implementation shoul@Y sinks and suggested that the CDM should not apply to sinks unles
not overshadow the review of commitments, technology transfer affie COP/MOP decides otherwise. The US stressed it was premature
capacity building. CHINA warned that the Kyoto Protocol should ndimit the extent to which CDM activities may account for emissions
copy the Montreal Protocol. The Kyoto Protocol's implementation limitation and cautioned against the chilling effect of administrative
depends on technology and resource transfers to developing countgégictions. The G-77/CHINA expressed alarm at interpretations of
He cautioned against imposing reduction commitments on develoglt®yCDM as a clean production mechanism or a global carbon fund. |
countries. ZIMBABWE did not anticipate a final resolution of issuePPosed having any entity outside the FCCC operate the CDM.
surrounding flexibility mechanisms at COP-4. INDIA opposed any ~ GEORGIA cautioned that the CDM, in its current form, makes
hierarchy or prioritization of work with regard to the three collaboradeveloping countries dependent on the will of developed countries ai
tive mechanisms. said there is a need for financial resources to assist developing coun



Monday, 15 June 1998

Voal. 12 No. 86 Page 10

tries. MAURITIUS emphasized the CDM for poverty alleviation and
ETHIOPIA called for elaboration on thisat COP-4. With
COLOMBIA, COSTA RICA, SLOVENIA, SENEGAL, NIGERIA
and IRAN, NORWAY called the CDM atool for sustainable develop-
ment in non-Annex | countriesthat should also contribute to climate
change objectives. He said additional timeisneeded for inclusion of
sinksinthe CDM. Supported by SAUDI ARABIA, INDIA noted that
the CDM'sorigins arein sustai nable devel opment through devel op-
ment cooperation and resource transfer.

COLOMBIA and VENEZUELA recommended that CDM
projects, inter alia, produce real emissionsreductionsand, with
COSTA RICA, accord with host country wishes. Supported by
COSTA RICA, NICARAGUA, ARGENTINA and IRAN,

COL OMBIA opposed ignoring sinks, noting that they are also biodi-
versity deposits. COSTA RICA also opposed re-negotiation on what
kinds of sinksareincluded. The REPUBLIC OF KOREA expressed
reservations about the inclusion of forestry under the CDM and
cautioned against the temptation to micromanage the CDM through
extended bureaucracies. IRAN distinguished the CDM from other
mechanisms, pointing out that it isamultilateral rather than bilateral
mechanism, with international supervision. He cautioned agai nst
turning the CDM into aclean energy mechanism. URUGUAY called
for further definition and contact group discussions.

ACTIVITIESIMPLEMENTED JOINTLY: OnAlJand Jl, the
AFRICAN GROUP, supported by SOUTH AFRICA, noted that
African countrieshave neither participatedin AlJnor received funding
because donors seemto prefer other regions. Several countries, such as
BURKINA FASO, NIGERIA and the CENTRAL AFRICAN
REPUBLIC, stressed the need to wait until the end of the AlJ pilot
phase before drawing conclusionsonitsviability. IRAN favored
continuation of the Al Jpilot phase and devel opment of guidelines. The
US said that projects begun under AlJthat lead to legitimate emissions
reductions should receive credits. The EU said the AlJexperience
gained since COP-1 can provide val uable guidance on questions of
flexibility mechanismsin the Protocol.

CONTACT GROUP ON MECHANISMS

Delegates agreed to discuss the mechanismsin acontact group
chaired by Yvo de Boer (Netherlands) and Gylvan MeiraFilho
(Brazil). On Monday, 8 June, Co-Chair de Boer reported in ajoint SBI/
SBSTA Plenary that the group had met three timesto: identify issues
rel ated to the mechanisms; consider awork programme; and suggest
decisions. The group mandated a Co-Chairs paper submitted asa
proposed schedul e of work. The G-77/CHINA, supported by the
PHILIPPINES, SAUDI ARABIA and CHINA, called upon SBSTA to
clarify methodol ogical issues before substantiveissues are discussed.
Healso: noted, with CHINA, the G-77/CHINA’s current consideration
of thisitem; called for consideration of rules, guidelines and modali-
tiesand other relevant issues; and, with the PHILIPPINES, opposed
establishing another contact group on similar issues. The Chair urged
that the two groups work be harmonized. The EU introduced a
proposal on international emissionstrading, noting differencesfrom
the Canadian proposal in addressing: supplementarity; environmental
effectiveness, compliance mechanisms, market transparency, risk and
liability rules, reporting requirements, and eligibility.

On 10 June, the contact group met to discuss a Co-Chairs' draft
proposed schedule on mechanisms. The G-77/CHINA presented an
initial list of issuesto address, and stressed consideration of funda
mental issues before timing and schedules of work. NORWAY, on
behalf of agroup of countries and supported by the US, recalled the
non-paper on emissionstrading distributed by the group the previous
week, and the package of four mechanisms agreed in Kyoto. He
stressed that quantitative caps, which could lead to fewer devel oping
country projects, had not been adopted in Kyoto. Referring to itsnon-
paper, the EU stressed domestic actionsand called for: ceilings on use
of mechanisms; guidelines, rulesand procedures; acomplianceregime
asaprerequisite; and parallel work on the three mechanisms. The US
suggested basing group discussions on both the G-77/Chinaquestions
and the Co-Chairs' draft proposed schedule.

Inthe evening, delegates received the G-77/CHINA’s proposed
work programme on mechanisms. Discussion of its elementstook
placethat evening and the following day. The G-77/CHINA suggested
deferring AlJuntil after the pilot phase designated at COP-1.

Countrieswere limited to volunteering proposal s for additional
elementsand questionsfor clarification. For CDM and Article 6
projects, del egates considered el ements under methodol ogical/tech-
nical work, institutional issues, processand linkages, aswell as partici-
pationin projects under the CDM. For emissionstrading between
Annex | Parties, del egates considered general issues.

On emissionstrading, the US questioned theinclusion of language
on rightsand entitlements of Annex | Parties. The G-77/CHINA
commented that “rights” are included in the literature on domestic
common property resource trading schemes and in the FCCC
regarding the right to develop. The EU and the US stated that entitle:
ments for trading have already been established under the Kyoto
Protocol. The US said it is not “rights” but “assigned amounts” that ar
discussed in the Protocol, and that the emissions and allocations of
non-Annex | Parties will only be addressed in the longer term when
they participate. He invited discussion on this. Several delegates qu
tioned the inclusion of language on funding of adaptation in the G-77
China's paper.

Additional elements were proposed by Annex | Parties, including
SWITZERLAND, the EU, the US, CANADA, AUSTRALIA and
NEW ZEALAND. Under emissions trading, new text coveratsy
alia, involvement of legal entities and verification, reporting and
accountability with regard to principles, modalities, rules and guide-
lines. Under the other topics additions were proposed on such topics
as: review of implementation of Article 6 by expert review teams;
methodological issues surrounding additionality; guidelines for
projects and project baselines on sinks; an overall institutional frame
work; Executive Board supervision; and accessibility of participation
A proposal for guidelines on the eligibility of projects initiated under
the AlJ pilot phase for generation of emissions reduction units was
opposed by the G-77/CHINA. The Chair proposed to prepare a set o
“Chairs' personal notes” based on the discussion.

In the evening, Chair Meira Filho recalled that work remained on
linkages under the CDM and Article 6. Delegates received a revised
proposal on the work programme on mechanisms incorporating add
tions from the morning session, accompanied by “Chairs' personal
notes.” The EU sought clarification on whether issues mentioned the
day before would be reflected in the proposed work programme. The
US queried the status of the new paper and objected to the Chair's
suggestion that no new items or categories should be added. Noting
efforts to provide flexibility, the US said he could not accept the pape
as a consensus document. The Chair clarified that due to time
constraints the contact group could not wait for consideration of the
issues raised by the US, and proposed addressing them in the next
session. The US objected to the Chair's proposal, saying all ideas m
be presented in a complete way.

SAUDI ARABIA noted the efforts made by the G-77/China and
stressed that other issues must be considered. He said that all the is:
are a package and progress on one issue cannot be expected while
others are blocked. The US expressed disappointment that the G-77
China position paper (FCCC/SB/1998/MISC.1/Add.5) had just
emerged as a document. He called for a break to studly it.

Following several breaks, the Chair proposed to take into accoun
all comments discussed and prepare a Co-Chairs' report with a secti
on personal notes and on the proposed work programme, including
new submissions. The paper would have no legal status and would r
be subject to editing. He requested the group to allow the Co-Chairs
conclude this and only show the outcome to representatives of the C
77/China, the EU, the US, Saudi Arabia and any interested Parties
before presenting it to the Chairs of the subsidiary bodies.

On 12 June, Co-Chair de Boer reported on the work of the contac
group, which resulted in two documents (contained in FCCC/SB/19¢
CRP.2), a set of “suggested elements for a work programme on mec
nisms” and the Chairs' draft conclusions. He noted that the conclusio
invite Parties to submit views on the mechanisms, noting that submi:



Voal. 12 No. 86 Page 11 Monday, 15 June 1998

sionsreceived by the Secretariat by 10 September can be distributed at
the next meeting as"miscellaneous’ documents. The suggested
elementsfor aWork Programme are acompilation of the G-77/China's
proposal and proposals by other Parties made during the contact group
meetings and further proposal s submitted by the EU, Canadaand
otherson emissionstrading.

The EU expressed satisfaction with the outcome of the contact
group and noted two papersthe EU had tabled since the last meeting
(contained in FCCC/SB/1998/M1SC.1/Add.6). One contains prelimi-

The CENTRAL AFRICAN REPUBLIC stressed the need to help
countries presently lacking technical capacity and said delegates mt
contemplate ways to advance developing countries’ understanding.
ARGENTINA thanked all participants for their diligent work and
expressed confidence that COP-4 would be a resounding success.

A BRIEF ANALYSISOF THE MEETINGS
“THE BUMPY ROAD TO BUENOS AIRES - TIME

nary views of the EU and Switzerland on the G-77's questions
discussed earlier inthe contact group. The second, anon-paper onjoint
implementation submitted on behalf of the EU, Bulgaria, Croatia, the
Czech Republic, Hungary, Latvia, Poland, Slovakia, Sloveniaand
Switzerland, givesviews on the principlesto apply to joint implemen-

FOR A MANDATE?”

After the colorful displays of prowess, endurance and dexterity at
"the big game" in Kyoto, some delegationsin Bonn found themselves
drawn to the Piano Bar at the Maritim Hotel to recapture a sense of
purpose and excitement by viewing the opening games of the World

tation, including: additionality, supplementarity, transparency, €ligi-
bility and compliance, and includes adraft decision proposed by the
group for consideration at COP-4.

INDIA, on behalf of the G-77/CHINA, expressed satisfaction
regarding the deliberations rel ated to the mechanisms. He noted that
delegates were able to synthesize perspectives, identify issuesand
propose awork programme. Devel oping countries are much wiser
because they know more about the uncertainties that must be under-
stood before the mechanisms can proceed to the next stage.

CONTACT GROUP ON ALLOCATION OF WORK

On alocation of work for future sessions under Decision /CP.3,
paragraph 6, SWITZERLAND, on behalf of Co-Chair José Romerq,,
(Switzerland), reported that the contact group met three times.
Although Parties expressed views that were compiled into a Chair’
draft paper, the contact group was unable to finish its work on the
agenda item at a third meeting due to non-attendance by official re
sentation from the G-77/China. INDONESIA reported that the G-7

Cup displayed on alife-size screen. Participants at the first post-Kyoto
subsidiary body meetingsin Bonn encountered adistinct and worrying
loss of momentum caused, in part, by unresolved negotiation of the
prioritiesfor the COP-4 agendain Buenos Aires. Moreover, some key
issuesfor discussion have generated at least two "world views" around
their meaning and significance. Thisbrief analysiswill limititself to
an examination of the factors which have slowed the negotiating
process and an attempt to identify some of theingredientsrequired for
adecisive COP-4in BuenosAires.

A LOSS OF MOMENTUM

Theimmediate agendafor the subsidiary bodieswas set, for the
st part, by Decision 1/CP.3 of COP-3 which directed the Chairs of
he SBI and SBSTA to provide guidanceto the Secretariat on the
reparatory work needed for consideration by COP-4 and to allocate
work to the respective subsidiary bodies. The “flattening of
Gmentum” observed in Bonn was attributed to the decision'’s failure

. : : N provide guidance on what “must” be done at COP-4. In Kyoto and
Cht|.r|1afftelt it W‘I’(‘S pfemaﬁure to try toddeC|_de th]? %rgamzatlofn of Wo.rthonn, Parties not only failed to reach a consensus around priorities k
until after work on mechanisms and review ot adequacy of Commite, win e to attach very different expectations to issues that may or
ments under FCCC 4.2(a) and (b) is finished, because task aIIocatﬁﬁ not appear on the agenda in Buenos Aires. Consider, for examp
requires a complete list of tasks and at this stage it may not be exh second review of the adequacy of commitments under FCCC
tive. The Chair's draft conclusions (FCCC/SB/1998/CRP.1) were guacy

Pt . . rticle 4.2 (a) and (b). The date of COP-4 was, in part, determined b
adopted. The document states that the subsidiary bodies decided Qe provision in Article 4.2(d) for a second review to be held not later

defer consideration of these items until their ninth sessions and inyf 31D :

: ; , ecember 1998. In a move that puzzled some observers, it v
thrg Cg‘:gsbggi%?ggmg ritsfnTsAattotﬁ%Tﬂgte points that might a number of developing countries who pushed for the second review
provi ! : : Ime. viewing it as an opportunity for a rehearsal of their argument that
CLOSING SBI/SBSTA JOINT PLENARY Annex | Parties have failed to adequately "implement" their commit-

On 12 June, SBSTA Chair Kok Kee Chow (Malaysia) noted thef8eNnts- _ . _
had been many doubts voiced regarding the ability to make progress, The G-77/China told the SBI that COP-4's second review must
but noted that this session resulted in the basic building blocks to ni§¢@ect the FCCC mandate and not be distracted by extraneous mat
forward on important issues. He urged delegates to “see the glass §4ch as consideration of new commitments for non-Annex | Parties.
half full rather than half empty.” SBI Chair Bakary Kante (Senegal) I he articles, however, can also be viewed as a hook upon which to
said that delegates had started a process that, while interesting, cat#itst @ case for developing country participation. The US and others
be completed at once. Following the adoption of all conclusions, deidopt this view, based on an interpretation of the second review
gates adopted the draft report of the session (FCCC/SBSTA/1998/Rr@gess which holds that the inadequacy of the aretese (not

CANADA spoke on behalf of the countries that jointly submittedTPlémentation) is due to the limited number of Parties subject to the
an emissions trading proposal. He expressed appreciafion for the ¢§13¢f commitments outlined in Articles 4.2(a) and (b). Incidentally,
China’s questions and favored an early opportunity to provide prelifj EUropean Union shares this reading of Articles 4.2 (a) and (b) but

nary responses. NEW ZEALAND expressed its intent to make a &0 €xamining the possibility of using FCCC Article 7.2, which
encompasses review of FCCC-related legal instruments, to press fol

submission on mechanisms. increasingly global participation. The logic of the US reading of inade
INDONESIA, on behalf of the G-77/CHINA, said that all mechay uacy shores up their interest in exploring ways to move beyond wh:

nisms must be examined on the basis of equity, sustainable develq%)— Netat " :
g ; ! calls the "static world" created by the establishment of Annex | and
ment and the objective of the Convention. The issue related to the e a case for bringing the newly industrialized countries on board

CDM must be addressed first. On arrangements for COP-4, he saim?ﬁg o . . .
High-Level Segment must not be bound by any declaration originating/""other example of opposing interpretations involves Articles 4.
4.9 on the effects of climate change and the adverse impacts of

in any body or meeting extraneous to COP-4. On technology trans n oil " i ted by AOSIS
he expressed concern at the lack of progress, despite relevant pro{f£>PONS€ measures. LIl éxporting countries, supported by ' a
essing for increased and, perhaps, equal weight to be given to any

sions of the Convention and decisions adopted at the three previod¥ ; , > =4 e !
COPs. On the second review of FCCC Article 4.2(d), he reiterated fifierse social, economic and physical impacts arising from imple-
there must be no new commitments, voluntary or introduced for all€ntation of FCCC commitments. Annex | countries are more
developing countries, under any guise. On the financial mechanisnf#gious, pointing out that much more scientific work will have to be
said the group was not getting the necessary cooperation on imprd¥@le before these issues are dealt with side by side, if ever.

ment and functioning of the operating entity on an interim basis. On

adverse impacts of response measures, he expressed disappointment



Monday, 15 June 1998 @E‘.’f th Negotiations Bulletin Vol. 12 No. 86 Page 12

WHAT DOESA UNITED STATESSENATORWANT?The and at Kyoto while others were more laid back, treating the subsidiar
US can be expected to continue pushing the envelope on the “meadmsdies as a re-run of AGBM-1. The actual atmosphere reflected a cla
ingful participation” of key developing countries on a number of  of both attitudes, with combinations of blocking tactics and an unwill-
fronts. One of these fronts might be an attempt to review the FCCdngness by some Parties to talk about some issues at all.

Annex | list, with the argument that the world has moved on, notably WHO WANTSWHAT? For Annex | Parties anxious to make

for newly industrializing coyntries, since the list was first fOI’mu|ate®rogress for the entry into force, the preferred package of outcomes

To borrow a phrase from Sigmund Freud, the question comes dowfréen COP-4 is shaped by their requirements for ratification, such as

this: What does a United States Senator want? It has been reporteghi@#ibxibility mechanisms. The EU and the economies in transition a
US Senators believe that India, China and Mexico will determine  also interested in developing the framework for joint implementation.
whether the US will ratify the Kyoto Protocol. The US and New Zealand are pursuing early decisions on emissions

The US is also behind one of the most intriguing questions on theding. For the developing countries there is interest in the new mec
road to Buenos Aires. The host country for COP-4, Argentina, is anisms such as the CDM and the second review of adequacy of FCC
considering “voluntarily” taking on emissions commitments. When commitments. In addition there was a strong push for technology
the proposed Article 10, on voluntary commitments, was dropped transfer and an emphasis on Articles 4.8 and 4.9 by oil-exporting coL
from the draft Protocol at the final meeting of the Committee of the tries and AOSIS, something which took the FCCC Secretariat by
Whole (COW) in Kyoto, Argentina asked for the item to be includedsurprise. Contrary to appearances, the issue of the GEF has been
on the COP-4 agenda. The proposal was lost after opposition fromdescribed by one insider as a “dead horse.” These packages are like
Saudi Arabia and China on the grounds that it was not an issue theto converge around the “trade offs” on progress on flexibility mecha-
COW could take up. Argentina mistakenly thought that its motion haidms in favor of Annex | countries and concessions on the push for
succeeded and it was not until things were clarified by the FCCC schedule for developing country commitments in favor of most Anne;
Secretariat earlier this year that the country repeated its request toll Parties, at least for the time being. In Bonn the development of pos
place voluntary commitments on COP-4's provisional agenda, in tions and lack of movement on some fronts clearly signaled a desire
writing. Argentina consulted widely at the subsidiary body meetingstarties to create a stock of bargaining chips to begin trading in Buen
find an agreed formulation but faced overwhelming opposition withiires.
the G-77. There is speculation that the item will appear at the top of WHITHER THE G-77 & THE EU’S BURDEN: Intra-group
COP-4's agenda with a view to it being dropped in return for conceglynamics and their impact on negotiations are al so being discussed.
sions on an alternative approach to the same issue. Towards the ciR&flecting on the diverse positions within the G-77, one of the group
of the Bonn meeting the host country’s representatives were reportgélggates noted that in the long run, the regional sub-groups would
more occupied by the failure of the COP-4 agenda to take shape, aile to find ways of articulating their specific interests separately. A
the prospect of a "non-event" graced by the less than dignified presyplit in G-77 is not imminent since the group represents other interes
ence of a coterie of the world's ministers twiddling their thumbs.  beyond the climate forum. However, more articulated and clearer

One alternative approach to voluntary commitments (based onregional positions may become apparent at the next COP and proba
identifying incentives), suggested by a leading player, could focus aould be the most feasible way to achieve progress.
research such as that conducted by the World Resources Institute European negotiators and observers were preoccupied with imm
demonstrating that developing countries are already making efficieneyt internal negotiations on burden sharing within the “bubble”
gains using new technologies, qualifying them for claims on their arrangement. A small number of countries are expected to take on tt
“emissions forgone.” lion’s share of the burden, creating a very wide gap between the higt

COMPLEX MEETINGWITHOUT A CENTER: The insub-  achievers and the rest. NGOs have speculated that the lack of balan
stantial outcome of the subsidiary body meetings cannot be attribuiedhe burden sharing deal could impact on the Union’s positions on
entirely to the important political disputes. This was the first meetinfiexibility and policies and measures. For example, one NGO
since the end of the AGBM where the burden of complex work fell suggested that an uneven spread of commitments could undermine
entirely to the subsidiary bodies. As one observer commented: “Thiecentive within the less ambitious European countries to accept the
Bonn meeting did not have a center.” Reflecting this view that the kind of common policies and measures required by more ambitious
meeting lacked an adequate equivalent to a Plenary (despite joint countries.
meetings of the two subsidiary bodies), there were complaints that
insufficient time was given to exchange views on, for example, eacRBEPARING TO GIVE AND TAKE? ) .
the flexibility mechanisms, in advance of going into contact groups. A Movement, or the lack of it, on a number of key issues will deter-
European delegate said, “The contact groups subsequently did notigjae the success of the COP-4 agenda. Land use change and fores!
into the issues. There wasn’'t much progress on questions such as #@ie not specifically mentioned in either Article 6 (J1) or Article 12
allocation of work. Many of the contact groups met for a few days af§PM). Therefore, it remains unclear whether they will be included a
then stopped. Now we have an awful lot to do if we are to solve anyetential projects for meeting reduction commitments. This has
the outstanding issues.” prO\(/)ed }&) be athlghly compleé antd dr:wtsﬁwe issue, 'e\I/en arr;ong thet

Complexity itself has begun to close in on the delegations and t S. A question remains about whether a special report requestec
Secretariat as an issue, compounding the political differences as Tom the IPCC will be ready for COP-6 in 2000. This is significant
Parties move from the “what” questions of the AGBM process to thB€cause according to Article 12, Annex | countries may begin to
events, took place over the two weeks) around implementing the 1S likely that the US and CANADA will be pushing for early resolu-
Kyoto Protocol and its mechanisms. The climate change phenomefi@r Emissions trading is another hot topic. UNEP Executive Directo
confronts the tradition of multilateral negotiation, consensus buildiffg2us Topfer has described this component of the Protocol as the
and co-operation with unprecedented challenges. A modest proposglieation of a new property rights regime for a global resource - the
to tackle this may involve three meetings during the year, with the atmosphere” leading to a concern among both NGOs and some dele
subsidiary bodies meeting twice, one week at a time. tions that key actors have become increasingly preoccupied with

The complexity issue probably helps to explain the all too comn]ganading targets and manipulatthgnumbers at the expense of

. efforts to seriously address efforts to achieve significant parts of theil
story reported by those delegates who returned from Kyoto to their uction targets at home. The EU, a supporter of capping, is

capitals to find more and more of their government ministries takin % p p : ;
interest in the outcome. Ministries are reporting that they are incregs: cerned that the “21st century carbon rush” may fail to convince

: ; P eveloping countries that Annex | Parties are serious about their
ingly overwhelmed by the enormity of the implications of the Kyoto . ; et

Protocol. On their return to the fray in Bonn some delegations werefommitment to take a lead on climate change mitigation.

well aware that many things had been left unresolved in the run up to




Vol. 12 No. 86 Page 13 @E‘.”.’ th Negotiations Bulletin Monday, 15 June 1998

CREATING A GOAL-ORIENTED COP-4 CONGRESSOF THE WORLD ENERGY COUNCIL: This
Therewill be opportunities at anumber of intersessional activities, meeting will be held from 13-17 September 1998 in Houston, Texas,
including high-level meetingsin Canada, Japan and Argentina, forkey ~ US. For more information contact: The Houston Congress; tel: +1
Partiesto refinetheir respective agendasin advance of COP-4. Perhaps  (202) 331-0415; fax: +1 (202) 331-0418; Internet: http://
out of a sense of “AGBM nostalgia,” some are mooting the possibiligvw.wec98congress.org/.
of a Buenos Aires Mandate to restore momentum and create deadlineSLEVENTH WORLD CLEAN AIR & ENVIRONMENT
for this new phase in the negotiations. Deadlines can, in a sense, CONGRESS (& EXPO): The Congress is schedule from 13-18
become “star players” in a negotiating process and may help to assGagéember 1998 in Durban, South Africa. For information contact:
the fears of those who believe that urgent decisions may be left to Conference Secretariat, PO Box 36782, Menlo Park 0102, South
COP-5, allowing the all important date for the Protocol's entry into Africa; fax: +27 12 460 170; e-mail: wissing@iafrica.com.
force to drift to the sidelines. There may be truth in this. It will also be SIXTH INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE ON
worth remembering, however, that the content of the issues at stak@@BDELING, MONITORING AND MANAGEMENT OF AIR
also shifted towards greater complexity and deeper uncertainty in tROL LUTION (Air Pollution’98): This meeting will be held from
post-Kyoto phase. After Kyoto the future is not what it used to be. 28-30 September 1998 in Genova, Italy. The meeting will be organize
by the Wessex Institute of Technology (UK) and the Universita di
Genova, Italy. The objective of this meeting is to bring together scien
THINGSTO LOOK FOR tists working in industry, research organizations, government and
THIRD CONFERENCE OF THEPARTIESTO THEFCCC:  academia who are working on monitoring, simulation and manage-

The Third Conference of the Parties will be held in Buenos Aires, ment of air pollution problems. For information contact: Sally
Argentina, from 2-13 November 1998. The ninth sessions of SBI amhdford, Conference Secretariat, Air Pollution 98, WIT; tel: +44 (0)
SBSTA are expected to meet during the first week. A High-Level 1703 293223; fax: +44 (0) 1703 292853; e-mail:

Segment will be held from 12-13 November. Canada and Japan sradord@wessex.ac.uk

announced plans to hold intersessional meetings in September. For |NTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE ON TROPICAL

more information contact the FCCC Secretariat in Bonn, Germany; i&elRESTS AND CLIMATE CHANGE: This meeting will be held
+49-228-815-1000; fax:+49-228-815-1999; e-mail: from 19-22 October 1998, Manila, the Philippines. For more informa:
secreariat@unfccc.de. Also try the FCCC home page at http://  tjon contact the Conference Secretariat, Environmental Forestry
www.unfccc.de and UNEP's Information Unit for Conventions at  program, UPLB College of Forestry, 4031 College, Laguna, the Phil-

http://www.unep.ch/iuc/. ippines; tel: +63-49-536-2342; fax: +63-49-536-2341; e-mail:
FOURTH INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE ON GREEN-  Rdl@mudspring.uplb.edu.ph.
HOUSE GASCONTROL TECHNOL OGIES(GHGT-4): This 1998 EARTH TECHNOL OGIESFORUM (formerly Climate

conference will be held from 30 August - 2 September 1998 in '”te"ChangeConferencesand Ozone Protection Technologies Confer -

laken, Switzerland. For information contact: Dr. Baldur Eliasson,  gnee): This meeting will be held from 26-28 October 1998 in Wash-
Head, Energy and Global Change, ABB Corporate Research Ltd., ; to)n, DC. The Fgrum will address climate change and ozone
Baden-Dattwil , Switzerland.; tel: +41-56-486 80 31; fax: +41-56-4%3ntection technologies and policies. It is co-sponsored by the Intern
45 69; e-mail: baldur.eliasson@chcrc.abb.ch. tional Climate Change Partnership (ICCP), the US Environmental

SECOND INTERNATIONAL CONFERENCE ON Protection Agency and the Alliance for Responsible Atmospheric
CLIMATE AND HISTORY: The Second International Conference pojicy. The conference will provide a forum for discussion of current
on Climate and History: "Past and present variability - a context for fghnologies and efforts to bring them into the marketplace. It also
future,” will be held from 7-11 September 1998 in Norwich, UK. Foloffers an opportunity to learn more about the important linkage
more information contact: Susan Boland, Climatic Research Unit, petween technology issues and policy discussions prior to COP-4. F
Univ. of East Anglia, Norwich, NR4 7TJ, UK; tel: +44-1603-456-16 kpnference registration, programme and exhibit information contact;
fax: +44-1603-507-784; e-mail: s.boland@uea.ac.uk; Internet: http{father Tardel; tel: +1 (703) 807-4052; fax: +1 (703) 243-2874;
www.cru.uea.ac.uk/cru/cont. Internet: http://www.earthforum.com.



